
AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, July 21, 2025 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 1 
 

1. Call to Order   
2. Roll Call  
3. Invocation and Pledge  
4. Announcements 
5. Approval of the Agenda  
6. Public Input  
7. Consent Agenda  

a. Approve Minutes  
• Executive Session held June 2, 2025  
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held June 16, 2025 
• Executive Session held June 16, 2025 
• Special Called Meeting held June 25, 2025 
• Executive Session held June 25, 2025 
• Special Called Meeting held July 9, 2025 
• Executive Session held July 9, 2025 
• Special Called Meeting held July 14, 2025 

 

8. Employee Recognition 
9. Proclamation: 2025 Georgia Racing Hall of Fame Inductees 

 

PUBLIC HEARING   

10. VAR-C2500168: Integrity Engineering and Development Services, Inc. with Dawsonville Fee Owner, LLC has 
requested to vary from the general sign regulations at 25 Main Street (Tax Map Parcel D04 020 004) to allow 
wall signage on all four (4) façades of the building. Public Hearing Date: City Council on Monday, July 21, 2025. 
City Council for a decision on Monday, August 4, 2025.  

 

BUSINESS 
 

11. VAR-C2500187: Steve Eiberger with Hardeman Communities Inc. has requested to vary from the standards of 
an approved Planned Unit Development (PUD) at 224 Timber Ridge (parcel 083 026 190) for the construction 
of one single-family residence. Specifically, they seek (A) to reduce the front yard setback from 20 feet to 16 
feet and (B) to reduce the rear yard setback from 20 feet to 16 feet. Public Hearing Date: City Council on 
Monday, June 16, 2025. City Council for a decision on Monday, July 21, 2025.  

12. Request for Fee Waiver and Road Closure: Grilling for Good Special Event – Tabled from June 16, 2025  
13. Request for Fee Waiver and Road Closure: A Family Fair Special Event, August 8, 2025 
14. Resolution No. R2025-05: Georgia State Patrol Post #37 Donation 
15. Consideration of Final Plat for Villas at Dawsonville 
16. 2026 Solid Waste Collection Service Rate and Service Charge 
17. National Opioid Settlement with Perdue Pharma    

  WORK SESSION 
 

18. Discuss Gold Creek Drive – Tabled from June 16, 2025   

STAFF REPORTS 
 

19. Jacob Evans, City Manager 
20. Robin Gazaway, Finance Director 

 

  MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS 
 

     EXECUTIVE SESSION, IF NEEDED: Pending or Potential Litigation, Real Estate Acquisition and/or Personnel 
 

     RESERVED FOR POTENTIAL ACTION ON EXECUTIVE SESSION ITEMS, IF NEEDED 
 

     ADJOURNMENT 
  

The next regularly scheduled City Council meeting is Monday, July 21, 2025. 
 

Those persons with disabilities who require reasonable accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting should contact the Clerk at 
Dawsonville City Hall at 706-265-3256 at least two (2) business days prior to the meeting. 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                    CONSENT AGENDA           

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE: 07/21/2025 
   
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 

 
   CONSIDERATION AND APPROVAL OF ITEMS BELOW; SEE ATTACHED 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS  
 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Executive Session held June 2, 2025 
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held June 16, 2025 
• Executive Session held June 16, 2025 
• Special Called Meeting held June 25, 2025 
• Executive Session held June 25, 2025 
• Special Called Meeting held July 9, 2025 
• Executive Session held July 9, 2025 
• Special Called Meeting held July 14, 2025 

 
 
 
 

 
 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #       7     
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       APPROVE MINUTES    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  07/21/2025 
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM: 
 

• EXECUTIVE SESSION HELD JUNE 2, 2025  
• REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION HELD JUNE 16, 2025 
• EXECUTIVE SESSION HELD JUNE 16, 2025 
• SPECIAL CALLED MEETING HELD JUNE 25, 2025 
• EXECUTIVE SESSION HELD JUNE 25, 2025 
• SPECIAL CALLED MEETING HELD JULY 9, 2025 
• EXECUTIVE SESSION HELD JULY 9, 2025 
• SPECIAL CALLED MEETING HELD JULY 14, 2025 

 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

   
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
           
  AMEND OR APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY:  Beverly Banister, City Clerk    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

 AGENDA ITEM #   7a      
 

 

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, June 16, 2025 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 3 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor John Walden called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm.  
 

2. ROLL CALL:  Councilmember Willilam Illg, Councilmember Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Sandy 
Sawyer, Councilmember Mark French, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City Manager Bob Bolz, City Clerk 
Beverly Banister, Assistant City Manager Jacob Evans, Public Works Operations Manager Steven 
McNeal, Utilities Director Jacob Barr, Finance Director Robin Gazaway, Zoning Administrative 
Assistant Stacy Harris and Sarah McQuade from CPL.    

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE:  Invocation and pledge were led by Councilmember Illg. 
 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  Councilmember French stated there is an item on the agenda concerning Gold 
Creek Drive which his employer lives on along with approximately ninety-nine other homeowners and 
he wanted to disclose it for the record. Councilmember Illg reported he received a comment from a 
BRAG participant who complimented the City and appreciated all that was done; they all had a really 
great time.  Mayor Walden invited the public to come out and speak with him at his Chat with the 
Mayor.  This will be at City Hall on July 8, 2025 beginning at 6:00 pm.   

 

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to approve the agenda as presented made by W. Illg; second 
by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

6. PUBLIC INPUT:  None 
 

7. CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion to approve the consent agenda for the following items (a,b) made by 
M. French; second by S. Sawyer.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting held June 2, 2025 

b. Approve FY 2025-2026 Agreement with Dawson County Chamber of Commerce 
 

8. EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION:  The Mayor and Council recognized David Schuette for his one year 
service award.  

 

 PUBLIC HEARING 
 

9. VAR-C2500187: Steve Eiberger with Hardeman Communities Inc. has requested to vary from the 
standards of an approved Planned Unit Development (PUD) at 224 Timber Ridge (parcel 083 026 
190) for the construction of one single-family residence. Specifically, they seek (A) to reduce the front 
yard setback from 20 feet to 16 feet and (B) to reduce the rear yard setback from 20 feet to 16 feet. 
Public Hearing Date: City Council on Monday, June 16, 2025. City Council for a decision on Monday, 
July 21, 2025.  
 

Sarah McQuade read the variance request and stated the department is recommending denial based 
on a self-created hardship for the floorplan they are presenting on this lot which is wider than it is 
deeper. She also mentioned the Council recently heard a variance on the adjacent lot and stated 
variances are considered on a lot by lot basis but wanted to mention it due to the proximity of the lot.  
She recommends Council consider the request based on the merits of this case and that is how staff 
analyzed it also.  
 

Motion to open the public hearing made by M. French; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously 
in favor.  Mayor Walden conducted the public hearing.  No one spoke in favor of the request and the 
following person spoke against the request: 
 

• Logan Samples, 235 Timber Ridge, Dawsonville – Mr. Samples stated he is against the 
request and agrees with staff to deny it since the developers created the lots and the 
house plans thus creating a self-made hardship which does not meet the criteria to 
approve a variance.  He also stated the request is significant with almost a forty-percent 
reduction making the lot tight with no front, side or backyard and since it is a cul-de-sac 
lot he feels it would decrease the character and integrity of the neighborhood along with 
diminished home values.   

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, June 16, 2025 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 2 of 3 
 

      Motion to close the public hearing made by S. Sawyer; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. 

 

 BUSINESS    

10. REQUEST FOR FEE WAIVER: GOOD SHEPHERD CLINIC, GRILLING FOR GOOD, SEPTEMBER 
20, 2025: Motion to table the agenda item to the July 21, 2025 City Council meeting made by M. 
French; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

11. RESOLUTION NO. R2025-03: ADOPTION OF THE FY 2025-2026 BUDGET:  Motion to approve 
Resolution No. R2025-03 to adopt the FY 2025-2026 budget made by W. Illg; second by C. Phillips.  
Vote carried unanimously in favor.  (Exhibit “A”) 

   

12. CONSIDERATION OF LETTER OF SUPPORT TO DAWSON COUNTY ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL:  Mayor Walden requested Council to consider a letter of support to the 
Georgia Mountains Regional Commission on behalf of the Development Authority of Dawson County 
to prepare an Appalachian Regional Commission grant application to install new water and sewer 
infrastructure for an industrial site in Dawsonville.  Motion to approve the letter of support made by 
W. Illg; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

 

13. APPOINTMENTS TO THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE ETHICS BOARD:  Mayor Walden read the 
following nominations for the Ethics Board: 

 

Calvin Byrd, Post #1 nominated by Councilmember Phillips 
Angie Smith, Post #2 nominated by Councilmember Illg 
Natalie Johnson, Post #3 nominated by Councilmember Sawyer 
Arthur Brown, Post #4 nominated by Councilmember French 
Elizabeth Duncan, At Large nominated by Mayor Walden 

 

 Motion to approve names as presented made by C. Phillips; second by M. French.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.  
 

  WORK SESSION 
 

14. DISCUSS GOLD CREEK DRIVE:  Motion to table the agenda item to the July 21, 2025 City Council 
meeting made by W. Illg; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

  STAFF REPORTS 
 

15. BOB BOLZ, CITY MANANGER:  He reported there were no leak adjustments this month and 
emphasized the value and importance of the water meter replacement project with leak detection 
software.  He also reported Councilmember Sawyer provided an article for the newsletter which talks 
about the benefits of residents downloading the app to monitor their water usage.  Councilmember 
Sawyer herself stressed how great the app is by being able to see the last twenty four hours of usage 
and the app can notify you of abnormal usage if you have the notifications turned on.      

 

16. ROBIN GAZAWAY, FINANCE DIRECTOR:  Financial reports were provided to represent fund 
balances and activity through May 31, 2025.       

       MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS:   
 

Councilmember Sawyer reported she serves on Family Connection and the Celebrity Waiter event 
was a huge success with profits of approximately over $9,000 going back into the community.  Mayor 
Walden also reported the Stuff the Bus promotion is underway and they are looking for donations for 
school supplies.  City Manager Bolz reported City Hall will be getting a collection box and which can 
be found in the Lobby.   

       
 
 
 
 
 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, June 16, 2025 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 3 of 3 
 

             EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

 At 5:21 p.m. a motion to close regular session and go into executive session for pending/potential 
litigation, real estate acquisition and/or personnel was made by M. French; second by S. Sawyer.  
Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

 

 At 6:16 p.m. a motion to close executive session was made by M. French; second by C. Phillips.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor.  
 

 Motion to resume regular session was made by M. French; second by S. Sawyer.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.     

   ADJOURNMENT 
 

At 6:18 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by W. Illg; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. 

  
 

 Approved this 21st day of July, 2025 
 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
   ___________________________________ 
   John Walden, Mayor 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 

 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  
 
         
   Sandra Sawyer, Councilmember Post 3 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
 
 
Attested: _________________________        
               Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 

 





Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Wednesday, June 25, 2025 

4:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 1 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Walden called the meeting to order at 4:00 pm.   

2. ROLL CALL: Councilmember William Illg, Councilmember Sandy Sawyer (via teleconferencing), 
Councilmember Mark French, Councilmember Caleb Phillips, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City 
Manager Bob Bolz, City Clerk Beverly Banister, Assistant City Manager Jacob Evans and Finance 
Director Robin Gazaway. 

 

Attorney Tallant clarified for the record that Georgia State Law allows for a member of the Council to 
participate via teleconferencing technology when they are absent from the district up to two meetings 
per year as long as a physical quorum is present at the meeting.      

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE: Invocation and pledge were led by Councilmember French.   

4. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to approve the agenda as presented made by M. French; 
second by W. Illg. Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 

5. PUBLIC INPUT:  None 
 

6. EXECUTIVE SESSION:  At 4:02 p.m. a motion to close regular session and go into executive session 
for pending/potential litigation, real estate acquisition and/or personnel was made by C. Phillips; 
second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 

Councilmember Sawyer left the meeting prior to resuming the regular session. 
 

At 7:38 p.m., a motion to resume regular session was made by C. Phillips; second by M. French.  
Vote carried unanimously in favor.       

ADJOURNMENT 
 

 At 7:39 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by W. Illg; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. 

 
          

        
 Approved this 21st day of July 2025 

 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
   ___________________________________ 
   John Walden, Mayor 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 
 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  
 
         
   Sandra Sawyer, Councilmember Post 3 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
Attest: _________________________        
           Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 
 





MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Wednesday, July 9, 2025 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 2 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Walden called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm.   

2. ROLL CALL: Councilmember William Illg, Councilmember Sandy Sawyer, Councilmember Mark 
French, Councilmember Caleb Phillips, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, Interim City Manager Jacob 
Evans, City Clerk Beverly Banister, Utilities Director Jacob Barr and Finance Director Robin Gazaway.    

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE: Invocation and pledge were led by Councilmember Illg.   

4. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to approve the agenda as presented made by W. Illg; second 
by M. French. Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 

5. PUBLIC INPUT:  None 
 

6. CONSIDERATION OF LAND PURCHASE AGREEMENT: Motion to approve the real estate contract 
as presented concerning the purchase of a tract of land on Pigeon Trail in Dawson County for up to 
eight (8) acres in size at $28,500.00 per acre to be paid out of the FY 2026 Enterprise Fund made by 
W. Illg; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  (Exhibit “A”) 

 

7. RATIFY APPROVAL OF CHANGE TO AUTHORIZED SIGNERS ON BANK ACCOUNTS:  Motion 
to ratify approval of change to authorized signers on the City’s bank accounts made by M. French; 
second by S. Sawyer.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 

8. RESOLUTION NO. R2025-04: SUPPORT OF AMICUS BRIEF IN CHANG V. MILTON: Motion to 
approve Resolution No. R2025-04 as presented made by W. Illg; second by M. French.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. (Exhibit “B”) 

 

9. EXECUTIVE SESSION:  At 5:05 p.m. a motion to close regular session and go into executive session 
for pending/potential litigation, real estate acquisition and/or personnel was made by S. Sawyer; 
second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 

At 7:04 p.m. a motion to close executive session was made by M. French; second by W. Illg.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor 
 

Motion to resume regular session was made by M. French; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.       

ADJOURNMENT 
 

 At 7:06 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by S. Sawyer; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried 
three in favor (Sawyer, Illg, Walden) with two opposed (French, Phillips) 

 
          

        
 Approved this 21st day of July 2025 

 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
   ___________________________________ 
   John Walden, Mayor 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 
 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  
 
 
 
 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Wednesday, July 9, 2025 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 
         
   Sandra Sawyer, Councilmember Post 3 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
 
Attested: _________________________        
           Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 
 





Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, July 14, 2025 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 2 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Walden called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm.   

2. ROLL CALL: Councilmember William Illg, Councilmember Sandy Sawyer, Councilmember Mark 
French, Councilmember Caleb Phillips, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, Interim City Manager Jacob 
Evans, City Clerk Beverly Banister, Public Works Director Trampas Hansard, Utilities Director Jacob 
Barr, Finance Director Robin Gazaway and Zoning Administrative Assistant Stacy Harris    

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE: Invocation and pledge were led by Councilmember French.   

4. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to approve the agenda as presented made by W. Illg; second 
by C. Phillips. Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 

5. PUBLIC INPUT:  None 
 

6. CITY MANAGER APPOINTMENT: Motion to appoint Jacob Evans as the City Manager made by W. 
Illg; second by S. Sawyer.  Councilmember French stated he had a candid conversation with Mr. 
Evans and stated although he likes him and believes he is a good person, he does not think he is 
ready for this position. He further stated he thinks Mr. Evans could grow into the position but he is not 
comfortable appointing him now.  He asked how many people were considered for the position, what 
criteria was used to consider them and how was the criteria established.  He quoted a portion of the 
City’s charter under Section 3.14 as “The manager shall be appointed on the basis of his or her 
executive and administrative qualifications”.  Councilmember French said he has not done his due 
diligence based on the absence of comparing Mr. Evans’ qualifications against anyone else’s. He 
further expressed concern based on looking at qualifications of other city managers who have 
obtained degrees and/or gained significant experience through other governmental supervisory 
positions over the course of twenty plus years and he does not want to set Mr. Evans up for failure.  
Vote carried three in favor (Illg, Sawyer, Phillips) and one against (French).  Mayor Walden wanted 
to thank Mr. Bolz for his almost nine years of service to the City and is grateful for his work and 
contribution to the City.        

ADJOURNMENT 
 

 At 5:06 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by W. Illg; second by C. Phillips.  
Councilmember French stated that he did previously communicate to Mr. Evans that if it were the 
Council’s decision to appoint him as City Manager, he would help him in any way he could and wants 
to see him succeed. Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

 
          

        
 Approved this 21st day of July 2025 

 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
   ___________________________________ 
   John Walden, Mayor 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 
 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  
 
 
 
 
 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, July 14, 2025 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 
         
   Sandra Sawyer, Councilmember Post 3 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
 
Attested: _________________________        
           Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                                  EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION_____________  

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  07/21/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

TO RECOGNIZE AND PRESENT EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION 
 

    
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 

 
 

     OPTIONS: 
      
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
   
 
 

 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY:                 Jacob Evans, City Manager________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   8    
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   PROCLAMATION: 2025 GEORGIA RACING HALL OF FAME INDUCTEES 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  07/21/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
TO RECOGNIZE THE 2025 GEORGIA RACING HALL OF FAME INDUCTEES AND READ THE 

PROCLAMATION     

 

 HISTORY/FACTS/ISSUES: 
 
 

INDUCTION CEREMONY WILL BE HELD ON AUGUST 2, 2025 BEGINNING 1:00 PM AT THE 
GEORGIA RACING HALL OF FAME. 
 

INDUCTEES WILL RECEIVE A PROCLAMATION FROM THE MAYOR HONORING THEIR 
CONTRIBUTION TO GEORGIA RACING 
 
 
OPTIONS: 
   

 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
REQUESTED BY: John Walden, Mayor    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   9     
 

 

 



 

  Proclamation 
 

2025 Georgia Racing Hall of Fame Inductees 

              

WHEREAS, the Dawsonville History Museum, proud home of the Georgia Racing Hall of Fame, seeks to 
honor and recognize individuals who have made significant contributions to the world of motorsports in Georgia; and  

WHEREAS, Dawsonville, Georgia is given the honorable distinction as the Birthplace of Stock Car Racing; 
and 

WHEREAS, we acknowledge our pride in the heritage and roots of Georgia and its significance in 
motorsports, as well as the contribution made to its history by those who have been inducted in years past; and 

WHEREAS, future candidates must exemplify the highest standards of sportsmanship, ethics, and moral 
character; and 

WHEREAS, the nominee must be a current or former resident of the state of Georgia or a significant 
contributor to racing in the state of Georgia; and  

WHEREAS, the committee shall consider the nominees' overall impact on Georgia motorsports, their 
racing accomplishments, and their contributions to the motorsport’s community within the state; and 

WHEREAS, we acknowledge the diligent efforts of the esteemed committee, including Rick Minter, a 
dedicated member since 2002, Chairman since 2015, and an integral part of the original committee in overseeing the 
nomination and selection process for inductees; and  

WHEREAS, the nominating committee has selected the following individuals that meet the 
aforementioned requirements and the Georgia Racing Hall of Fame has accepted Mike Helton, Fulmer Lance, Ethel 
Flock Mobley, Bob Morris and Johnny Thomas as the official 2025 Class of Georgia Racing Hall of Fame Inductees. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, John Walden, Mayor of the City of Dawsonville, do hereby proclaim Mike 
Helton, Fulmer Lance, Ethel Flock Mobley, Bob Morris and Johnny Thomas as the official  
 

2025 Georgia Racing Hall of Fame Inductees 
 

and recognize their significant qualifications and contributions made to the field of Georgia motorsports of which its 
impact can still be recognized today. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal of the City of Dawsonville to be affixed 
this 21st day of July 2025. 

  
 
 

_______________________________ 
John Walden, Mayor 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT: VAR-C2500168 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  07/21/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:    PUBLIC HEARING  
 

VAR-C2500168: Integrity Engineering and Development Services, Inc. with Dawsonville Fee 
Owner, LLC has requested to vary from the general sign regulations at 25 Main Street (Tax Map 
Parcel D04 020 004) to allow wall signage on all four (4) façades of the building. Public Hearing 
Date: City Council on Monday, July 21, 2025. City Council for a decision on Monday, August 4, 2025. 

 

HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
• 1.18 ACRE PARCEL CURRENTLY UNOCCUPIED RESTAURANT 
• PROPOSED MCDONALD’S SIGNAGE ON ALL FOUR (4) FACADES OF THE 

BUILDING 
• PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) REZONED 11/14/2005 

 

 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: CPL, Planning & Zoning Department 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   10     
 

 

 









































                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT: VAR-C2500187 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  07/21/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:   DECISION  
 

VAR-C2500187: Steve Eiberger with Hardeman Communities Inc. has requested to vary from the 
standards of an approved Planned Unit Development (PUD) at 224 Timber Ridge (parcel 083 026 
190) for the construction of one single-family residence. Specifically, they seek (A) to reduce the 
front yard setback from 20 feet to 16 feet and (B) to reduce the rear yard setback from 20 feet to 
16 feet. Public Hearing Date: City Council on Monday, June 16, 2025. City Council for a decision on 
Monday, July 21, 2025.  
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
• CITY COUNCIL APPROVED CREEKSTONE SUBDIVISION PHASE II 2018 
• 87 SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCES 
• PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) 
• SETBACKS PER RECORDED APPROVED FINAL PLAT: 

o 20 FT FRONT 
o 20 FT REAR 
o 5 FT SIDE  

 
 

 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: CPL, Planning & Zoning Department 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   11     
 

 

 



1 
 

 

CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
 

Planning Staff Report 
 

Variance Request 
 
 

 
 
APPLICANT  ................................................................Steve Eiberger, Hardeman Communities Inc. 
 
CASE NUMBER ...........................................................VAR C25-00187 
 
REQUEST ....................................................................Vary the standards of an approved Planned Unit 

Development (PUD) to (A) reduce the front yard setback 
from 20 feet to 16 feet and (B) reduce the rear yard 
setback from 20 feet to 16 feet. 

 

CURRENT ZONING DESIGNATION .............................PUD: Planned Unit Development 
 
SITE AREA ...................................................................+/- 0.17 acres 
 
LOCATION ..................................................................224 Timber Ridge 
 
TAX MAP PARCEL ......................................................083 026 190 
 
CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DATE ......................Monday, June 16, 2025  
 

CITY COUNCIL DECISION MEETING DATE .................Monday, July 21, 2025 
 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
 
The applicant has requested to vary from the standards of an approved PUD: Planned Unit Development for the 
construction of one single-family residence on an undeveloped parcel. Specifically, the applicant proposes to 
(A) reduce the minimum front-yard building setback from 20 feet to 16 feet and (B) reduce the minimum rear-
yard building setback from 20 feet to 16 feet. 

SURROUNDING PROPERTIES  

Direction from the Site Existing Zoning Existing Land Use 

North PUD Vacant  

South PUD Vacant  

East PUD Single-family Residential  

West PUD Single-family Residential  
 

SUMMARY 
 

The subject 0.17-acre parcel is currently vacant and located in a developing residential subdivision. The final plat 



  

2 
 

for the subject development, Creekstone Subdivision Phase II, was recorded on August 30, 2022. The City Council 
approved the Creekstone assemblage for rezoning to PUD: Planned Unit Development in 2018. Phase II is 
approved for the construction of 87 single-family residences on 44.22 acres, resulting in an overall density of 
1.97 dwelling units per acre. As part of this approved PUD, minimum building setbacks were established for each 
lot; 20 feet for the front and rear yards and 5 feet for the side yards. The subject parcel, identified as lot 65, 
fronts the cul-de-sac of Timber Ridge. 
 
In the submittal, the applicant indicates that “the shape, size and topography of the lot” necessitate this request 
((A) and (B)) for reduced building setbacks at the front and rear yards respectively. If both parts of the request 
are granted, the applicant intends to construct a single-family residence with an attached two-car garage. Staff 
estimate the building footprint to be approximately 1,340 square feet upon completion (excluding porches and 
decks). It is unclear based on the application whether the residence will have a second story, a basement level, 
or neither. 
 
The subject site abuts 210 Timber Ridge, also known as lot 64 of the Creekstone subdivision, which was the 
subject of a prior variance request. At their May 5, 2025, regular meeting, a request to vary the minimum front-
yard setback of that site was denied by the Dawsonville City Council. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
 
Pursuant to the 2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan, the subject parcel is within the Mixed Use Character 
Area.  

“The Mixed Use area is reserved for mixed use developments that will foster and support neighborhood 
and sub-regional scale commercial and public activity centers. Development at the major intersection 
and leading southward towards Central Dawsonville should exhibit a village form and scale that includes 
a mix of uses within the same block and/or building, small block sizes with marginal frontage parking and 
prominent pedestrian amenities that provide access throughout the area. Ancillary development outside 
the public and commercial aspects of the village center should provide some housing in a traditional 
neighborhood or middle-to-high density scale to support the village and minimize local automotive 
traffic. Additional housing can be provided on a more suburban scale or as part of a specialized 
development, but pedestrian connectivity is encouraged throughout these areas and roadways must 
minimize the use of cul-de-sacs and dead-end routes. Further, such developments are encouraged to 
pursue conservation design applications for environmental protection and to ease the transition 
between village densities and rural Dawson County.” 

Permissible land use types are Commercial, Mixed-use, and Multi-family. 
Note: Creekstone Subdivision was officially platted for the construction of 87 detached single-family 
residences in 2022. 

 
ANALYSIS 

Sec. 907 – Variances, conditional uses and map amendments. 

Subsection I. Purpose. The purpose of a variance is to provide relief when a strict application of the district 
requirements would impose unusual practical difficulties or unnecessary physical hardships on the applicant. 
Practical difficulties and unnecessary hardships may result from the size, shape, or dimensions of a site or the 
location of existing structures thereon; from geographic, topographic, or other conditions on the site or in the 



  

3 
 

immediate vicinity. No variance shall be granted to allow the use of property for a purpose not authorized within 
the district in which the proposed use would be located. A variance should be granted only after evidence is 
presented and accepted that enforcement of all of the required standards on the property in question would 
render the property useless. This article establishes conditions; criteria for granting variances; public hearings 
on proposed variances; variances to road requirements; variance procedures; compliance with conditions of 
approval; vested interest in approved variances; investigations and reports; revocation; limitations on re-
applications; and use variance. A variance may be granted, upon specific findings that all of the following 
conditions exist. The absence of any one of the conditions shall be grounds for denial of the application 
for variance. 

 

(Language in bold is from the City of Dawsonville Zoning Ordinance. Bulleted information that is not bolded are 
factors known to staff that may apply to the Ordinance criteria.) 

1. There are extraordinary and exceptional conditions pertaining to the particular piece of property in 
question because of its size, shape or topography that are not applicable to other land or structures in 
the same district; and, 

• The subject site is similar in size and topography to neighboring parcels; however, it has a 
different shape due to its location fronting a cul-de-sac. 

i. Most other lots in the subject development are rectangular, but the subject lot is 
trapezoidal, limiting the buildable area available. 

ii. The lot shape is not exceptional; it’s common for residential lots that front cul-de-sacs. 
 

2. A literal interpretation of the provisions of these zoning regulations would create an unnecessary 
hardship and would deprive the applicant of rights commonly enjoyed by other property owners 
within the district in which the property is located; and, 

• Staff do not anticipate that a literal interpretation of the standards of the approved PUD: Planned 
Unit Development, and the minimum building setbacks adopted therein, would create 
unnecessary hardship for the applicant. 

i. The applicant could construct a single-family house, in accordance with the adopted 
minimum building setbacks, by only utilizing the existing buildable area (space not in a 
building setback). There is additional buildable area located to the north and south of the 
proposed building footprint. 

 

3. Granting the variance requested will not confer upon the property of the applicant any special 
privileges that are denied to other properties of the district in which the applicant's property is 
located; and, 

• If City Council finds that exceptional conditions exist upon the subject lot, granting the requested 
variance would not confer any special privileges.  
 

4. Relief, if granted, will be in harmony with the purpose and intent of these regulations and will not be 
injurious to the neighborhood or general welfare in such a manner as will interfere with or discourage 
the appropriate development and use of adjacent land and buildings or unreasonably affect their 
value; and, 



  

4 
 

• If the requested variance from the approved PUD: Planned Unit Development is approved, 
thereby (A) reducing the minimum front building setback from 20 feet to 16 feet and (B) reducing 
the minimum rear building setback from 20 feet to 16 feet, staff do not anticipate any negative 
effects upon adjacent land or buildings. 
 

5. The special circumstances are not the result of the actions of the applicant; and, 
• The circumstances which substantiate this variance request are the direct result of the applicant. 

i. Hardeman Communities platted the subject lot, which was approved for recordation in 
2022 as part of Creekstone Subdivision Phase II. The subject site remains the same shape 
and size it was when it was platted. 
 

6. The variance requested is the minimum variance that will make possible the legal use of the land, 
building, or structure; and, 

• The variance requested is the minimum variance that will make possible the legal use of the land. 
 

7. The variance is a request to permit a use of land, building or structures which is permitted by right in 
the district involved. 

• If the subject variance is granted, all land uses will conform to the standards of the approved 
PUD: Planned Unit Development. 
 

Subsection II.C Basis for approval. No variance may be granted under this paragraph for an application for 
a variance that has been heard by the planning commission within one year or if the application is for the 
expansion of a non-conforming use or structure. The following criteria shall be considered by the planning 
commission (or City Council) before granting a variance under this paragraph: 
 

(Language in bold is from the City of Dawsonville Zoning Ordinance. Bulleted information that is not bolded are 
factors known to staff that may apply to the Ordinance criteria.) 

1. The variance neither interferes with the rights of others as provided in this chapter nor is injurious to 
the public health, safety, general welfare; 

• Staff do not anticipate that granting the subject variance would be detrimental to the rights, 
health, or welfare of others or the general public.  
 

2. A strict interpretation and enforcement of the standards or requirement would result in practical 
difficulty or unnecessary hardship; 

• A strict enforcement of the minimum 20-foot front yard and 20-foot rear yard building setbacks, 
adopted as part of the approved PUD: Planned Unit Development, would be unlikely to result in 
unnecessary hardship. 
 

3. Exceptional or extraordinary circumstances applicable to the subject property exist that do not 
generally apply to other properties in the same district; 

• There are no exceptional or extraordinary circumstances applicable to the subject site in the 
context of the greater development. 
 

4. The variance provides for reasonable use under the specified circumstances of each application; 



  

5 
 

• If the variance request is granted, the applicant intends to construct a single-family residence 
with a front yard setback of 16 feet and a rear yard setback of 16 feet. 
 

5. The variance achieves the general intent of this ordinance; 
• The development that would occur from granting the variance would achieve the general intent 

of the ordinance. 
• However, the resulting single-family residence would be located closer to both the internal road 

and the rear property boundary than most other residences in the development. The intent of 
the subject PUD: Planned Unit Development is to provide 20-foot minimum building setbacks at 
the front and the rear. 
 

6. The variance is the minimum possible variance under the specific circumstances; and 
• Pursuant to the house location exhibit submitted to supplement this variance request, the 

requested variance is the minimum possible in this circumstance. 
 

7. The variance does not exceed the scope of the authority set forth in subsection (A) hereof. 
• The requested variance from the minimum front and rear building setbacks, adopted as part of 

the approved PUD: Planned Unit Development, represents a 20% decrease. Therefore, the 
request does not exceed the scope of authority as established in Sec. 907.II.A. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends denial of the request to vary the standards of an approved Planned Unit Development (PUD) 
to (A) reduce the front yard setback from 20 feet to 16 feet and (B) reduce the rear yard setback from 20 feet 
to 16 feet. Pursuant to the hardship criteria of Sec. 907.I, conditions 1, 2, and 5 are not satisfied; these are 
grounds for denial of the variance request. 

 

 

  



  

6 
 

 
HOUSE LOCATION EXHIBIT  

 



  

7 
 

AERIAL IMAGERY  
 

  
 
Note: the boundaries of the subject site (parcel 083 026 190) are approximated in blue on the map above. 





















                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:    REQUEST FOR FEE WAIVER AND ROAD CLOSURE; GRILLING FOR GOOD 

SPECIAL EVENT 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  07/21/2025 
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:  TABLED FROM 06/16/2025 
 

    
 APPLICANT WITHDREW THE REQUEST 
 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 

   
    

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 
    RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY: Jacob Evans, City Manager 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #  12      
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

SUBJECT: REQUEST FOR FEE WAIVER AND ROAD CLOSURE: A FAMILY FAIR SPECIAL 
EVENT, AUGUST 8, 2025 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  07/21/2025  
 
 
 

BUDGET INFORMATION:  GL ACCOUNT #        

 Funds Available from: _____Annual Budget _____Capital Budget _____Other 

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund  _____General Fund 

 
 
PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

TO CONSIDER APPROVAL FOR 
• ROAD CLOSURE: MAIN STREET THROUGH THE PARK, ON AUGUST 8, 2025 FROM 

4:00PM – 11:00 PM 
• PERMIT FEE WAIVER: $50.00 
• PAVILION RENTAL FEE WAIVER: $225   

 
** THE NEW FAMILY CONNECTION COORDINATOR, LAYLA MCBRAYER, WILL BE IN 
ATTENDANCE TO INTRODUCE HERSELF AND ANSWER ANY QUESTIONS 
 
 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• EVENT TO BE LOCATED AT MAIN STREET PARK FRIDAY, AUGUST 8, 2025 FROM 6:00 
PM – 11:00 PM 

• THIS IS A RESOURCE FAIR ORGANIZED BY DAWSON COUNTY FAMILY CONNECTION. 
• PREVIOUS EVENT WAS HELD WITH OUT INCIDENT AT MAIN STREET PARK FOR THE 

PAST THREE YEARS 
 

 
OPTIONS: 
 
 
 
 
 
REQUESTED BY: Jacob Evans, City Manager 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   13 
     

 

 

 



















                                           
 

 

     SUBJECT: __RESOLUTION NO. R2025-05: GEORGIA STATE PATROL POST #37 DONATION_ 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  07/21/2025 
  
 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #_______________________________________ 

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:  
 
REQUEST APPROVAL FROM THE CITY COUNCIL FOR EXPENDITURE TO PURCHASE 12 TINT METERS 
FOR A DONATION TO THE GA STATE PATROL. $169.99 X 12 = $2,028 + ESTIMATED SHIPPING $50.00 
FOR A GRAND TOTAL OF $2,078.00.  
 
THE FUNDS ARE AVAILABLE IN THE GENERAL FUND. 
 
Inspector II – TM2000 – Laser Labs 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES 
 
FOR SEVERAL YEARS NOW, THE CITY WITH THE APPROVAL OF THE CITY COUNCIL HAVE 
PURCHASED ITEMS OF EQUIPMENT NEEDED BY THE GA STATE PATROL IN APPRECIATION OF THEIR 
SERVICE TO THE CITY AND TO AID IN THE PERFORMANCE OF THEIR DUTIES. IF APPROVED, THE 
ITEMS WILL BE ORDERED AND UPON RECEIPT, GSP OFFICERS WILL BE INVITED TO A CITY COUNCIL 
MEETING FOR PRESENTATION OF OUR DONATION. 
 
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
APPROVE OR DENY 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY: Jacob Evans, City Manager 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #____14_______ 
 

 

 

https://www.laser-labs.com/product/inspector-ii-tm2000/


 

Page 1 of 2 
 

RESOLUTION NO. R2025-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE REGARDING  
GEORGIA STATE PATROL POST #37  

 
WHEREAS, the Georgia State Patrol, a state agency, provides public health, safety, and welfare 
services within the corporate limits of the City of Dawsonville; and, 
 
WHEREAS, in order to effectively carry out their duties, obligations, and services, the Georgia 
State Patrol officers require the use of properly maintained specialty equipment, and,  
 
WHEREAS, many Georgia State Patrol officers that service the City of Dawsonville have 
resorted to expending personal funds to purchase said specialty equipment; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Dawsonville, Georgia, are charged with 
the protection and maintenance of the public health, safety, and welfare of those within the 
corporate limits of the City of Dawsonville; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the services rendered by the Georgia State Patrol are a substantial benefit to the 
City of Dawsonville; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council wish to assist officers and the Georgia State Patrol in 
effectively carrying out their duties to provide for the public health, safety, and welfare of the 
citizens of the City of Dawsonville.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of 
Dawsonville, Georgia, that the City of Dawsonville shall provide twelve (12) Tint Meters for a 
total approximate cost, including shipping, of Two Thousand and Seventy Eight Dollars 
($2,078.00) to the Georgia State Patrol and its officers that service the corporate limits of the 
City of Dawsonville, in recognition of the substantial benefit that said officers provide to the 
Citizens of the City of Dawsonville, and in an effort to assist said officers in effectively carrying 
out their duties in providing for the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the City 
of Dawsonville.  
 
RESOLVED this 21st day of July 2025. 

 
MAYOR AND DAWSONVILLE CITY  

 COUNCIL 
 
 

By:        
       John Walden, Mayor 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

       
Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 

 
             
             
       William Illg, Councilmember Post 2 
 
             
             
       Sandra Sawyer, Councilmember Post 3 
 
 
             
       Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTESTED TO BY: 
 
 
      
Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk  

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT: CONSIDERATION OF FINAL PLAT FOR – VILLAS AT DAWSONVILLE 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  07/21/2025  
   
 

 
 
 
 

 

PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:     

TO PRESENT THE CITY COUNCIL AND MAYOR WITH THE OPPORTUNITY TO EITHER 
APPROVE, DENY, OR TABLE THE APPLICANT'S REQUEST FOR THE APPROVAL AND 
RECORDING OF THE FINAL PLAT FOR THE VILLAS AT DAWSONVILLE.  

 

HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
• 38.58-acre parcel annexed into the city 03.17.2003 
• Rezoned from R-2 to R3 on 12.06.2004 
• Rezoned from R-3 to RPC with stipulations on 06.03.2019 
• Remove the age restriction (55 years or older) from the zoning stipulations 

approved on 02.06.2023 (Stipulations attached, Exhibit A) 
• 90 Total Units  
• City Attorney and Staff have reviewed/approved:  

a) Maintenance and Performance Bonds  
b) Covenants and Restrictions (recorded) 
c) Utility Easements (recorded) 
d) Stormwater Management and Long-Term agreements (recorded) 

 
 

OPTIONS: 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Stacy Harris, Planning & Zoning Department 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   15     
 













































Exhibit “A” 
 

STIPULATIONS CONCERNING ZA-C2300046 
 

1. A planted buffer to City buffer standards of at least one hundred (100) feet in width shall be created along 
the boundary of parcels 082 020 001, 082 023 002 and 082 023 003. Additionally, a planted buffer to City 
buffer standards of at least fifty (50) feet in width shall be created between the development and any 
other adjoining property line. (Approved on June 3, 2019) 
 

2. A maximum of seventy percent (70%) of land determined to be unusable, including, but no way limited 
to, floodplains, may be considered in calculating density. The overall number of units shall not exceed 90 
units (last stipulation it was 140). (Approved on June 3, 2019 / modified) 
 

3. At no point in time may an entrance to the Property / Development be placed on Howser Mill Road other 
than for emergency access as required by the Fire Marshall. All access to the Property/Development 
shall be from Highway 53 (other than the emergency access on Howser Mill). (Approved on June 3, 2019) 
 

4. Prior to and as precondition to the issuance of a Site Development Permit, the Owner and/or Developer 
of the Property /Development shall complete an independent Traffic Study (not done by applicant Ensite 
Civil Consulting, LLC) and  have the same approved by the Georgia Department of Transportation and 
the City Street Department Director of the impact of the Property/Development as proposed including, 
not in no way limited to the placement of the traffic lights and/or round-about, as related to the entrance 
to the Property/Development on Ga. Highway 53 and/or the impact of the proposed development on  Ga. 
Highway 53 Howser Mill Road intersection. Prior to and as a precondition to the issuance of a Site 
Development Permit, the Owner and/or Developer of the Property/Development shall fund and construct 
any street improvements called for in the Traffic Study as approved by the Georgia Department of 
Transportation and the City Street Department Director. (Approved on June 3, 2019) 
 

5. Prior to and as a precondition to the issuance of a Site Development Permit, the Owner and/or Developer 
of the Property/Development will install at the Owner/Developer’s expense such water and sewer lines 
as are necessary to reach the Property/Development from the existing City water and sewer line 
infrastructure as determined by the City Engineer, including the installation of any necessary sewer lift 
stations. (Approved on June 3, 2019) 
 

6. The following shall be placed on all final plats and individual surveys, “NOTICE: This property lies withing 
a rural area and agricultural activities creating dust, noise, and odors may occur in the vicinity. 
Understanding this, the grantee and successors in title forgo their right to claim against any agricultural 
operator in the area who has not been negligent.” (Approved on June 3, 2019) 
 

7. The owner/developer shall keep the driveway for the adjacent property owner of TMP 083 009 open and 
will repair any damage sustained during construction. (Approved on June 3, 2019) 
 

8. Dedicate to the City 20’ ROW along the property line on Hwy. 53 West for future road improvements. 
 

9. Dedicate to the City 20' ROW along the property line along Howser Mill Road for future road 
improvements. 
 

10. All roads within the subdivision shall be public roads. The roads shall be built meeting the City’s 
development standards. The City Engineer and /or the Planning and Zoning Director may request “loaded 
truck” roll over inspection and core tests, prior to final approval / acceptance of the final plat. 
 

11. The owner/developer shall Grade (sidewalk installation ready) the front along Hwy. 53 West and front 
along Howser Mill Road for installation/accommodation of 5’ sidewalk for future development.  Such 
areas must be stabilized with grass or other means to avoid any erosion after grading.  
 

12. The plans shall provide engineered designed (only) second entrance along Howser Mill Road for future 
access / development/connectivity. 
 

13. Provide adequate size children’s park / picnic area, meeting architectural design standards, for the 
residents with picnic/gathering area, children’s play area, children’s play equipment, adequate size 
(meeting architectural design standards) commercial designed and commercial material gazebo with fire 
pit. The developer shall submit list of children’s play equipment to the Director, Planning and Zoning, for 
approval.  This amenity area shall be completed and approved by the Building Official prior to obtaining 
Certificate of Occupancy prior to completion of 30% of the houses in the subdivision. 



Exhibit “A” 
 

 

14. The streetlights shall be of decorative design throughout the subdivision. 
 

15. The emergency entrance gate, along Howser Mill Road, design, material and installation shall be 
approved by the Dawson County Fire Marshal and Director, Planning and Zoning. The owner/developer 
must submit copy of the approval document to the Director, Planning and Zoning Department for the City 
records. 
 

16. The Knox Box/Lock must be as customary on similar projects in Dawson County and must have approval 
of the Fire Marshall. 
 

17. The emergency entrance gate and surroundings along Howser Mill Road must be tastefully designed to 
match with the development of the subdivision houses (material, color, design etc.). The gate plan must 
be prepared by an engineer or an architect and approved by the Director, Planning and Zoning. 
 

18. No two homes, next to each other and opposite to each other shall be of the same façade design, 
material, and facade color. 
 

19. No two townhomes, next to each other and opposite to each other shall be of the same façade design, 
material, and facade color. 
 

20. The mailbox area shall be designed to provide safe access and exit to the residents. The design shall be 
of covered mail kiosk, providing mailboxes, provide parcel boxes, well illuminated, and located at a safe 
and accessible location in the subdivision. 
 

21. The existing trees shall be preserved, to the maximum possible extent on the property especially along 
throughout the property lines, stream buffers areas, any other unbuilt spaces. If there are gaps/openings 
in the existing vegetation/tree area, the owner/developer shall plant trees of matching/local species to 
provide visual screening. Such plan shall be submitted with Construction Plans to the Department of 
Planning and Zoning for review and approval. 

22. At the subdivision, along the Hwy 53 entrance Two decorative styles, tastefully designed, entrance shall 
per permitted. One sign shall be permitted to be installed within dedicated 20’ ROW, which may be 
removed whenever the Hwy. 53 West improvements are completed. The developer may choose to install 
additional sign of reasonable size along the Howser Mill Road frontage to direct the visitors to the main 
access / entrance at Hwy. 53 West. 
 

23. The proposed site plan prepared, dated, 11.15.2022, file number 10195-00 is not “site specific” site plan. 
However, the developer/property owner shall follow this submitted site plan for preparation of final site 
plan. 
 

24. The Planning and Zoning Director authorized to approve minor variations during the subdivision 
development process; however, he/she is not authorized to approved increased density. The applicant 
must pay the required fees to the City for variations. In addition, the Planning and Zoning Director is 
authorized to approve the following as Administrative Variance with the written request by the developer 
or project engineer or project manager with City’s applicable fee schedule. 
 

• Front yard, side yard and rear yard setbacks. Variances shall not exceed 20 percent of the 
setback in applicable areas of this subdivision. 

• Building height. A variance may be granted up to, but not exceeding, ten feet if such variance 
does not allow space habitable by humans. 

• Parking. If the required parking standards cannot reasonably be met and if a variance will not 
adversely affect the spirit or intent of the ordinance, then a variance of not more than ten percent 
may be granted. 
 

25. Access shall be provided from the main entrance road (Hwy 53 West) to the adjacent parcels 083 009 
& 083 047. The developer/owner shall be granted in accordance with both City of Dawsonville and 
Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) requirements and shall include driveway aprons and 
access easements to the adjoining parcels. 

26. Contribution of a minimum of Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00) towards the construction of 
sidewalks outside of the development from Hwy 53 to Howser Mill Road. 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:  2026 SOLID WASTE COLLECTION SERVICE RATE AND SERVICE CHARGE  

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  07/21/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

TO CONSIDER APPROVAL OF THE 2026 SOLID WASTE COLLECTION SERVICE RATE OF  $15.90 PER 
CAN, PER MONTH FROM RED OAK SANITATION – NO INCREASE IN RATE, SAME SERVICE APPLIES 
 
TO APPROVE THE CITY’S 2026 SERVICE CHARGE TO COVER THE ADMIN AND CAPITAL COSTS 
INCURRED FOR PROVIDING THE WASTE COLLECTION SERVICE TO RESIDENTS AT $19.90 WHICH IS 
COST PLUS $4.00 – NO INCREASE TO RESIDENTS  

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• FOURTH CONSECUTIVE YEAR OF NO RATE INCREASE FROM RED OAK SANITATION 
• CITY HAS UTILIZED RED OAK SANITATION SINCE 2019 FOR SERVICE  
• NON-APPROVAL OF RATE WOULD RESULT IN BIDDING SERVICE OUT 
• CONTRACT WILL NEED TO BE UPDATED AND SIGNED ONCE RATES ARE APPROVED            

 

     OPTIONS: 
 

   
 

 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION:    

  STAFF RECOMMENDS APPROVAL  
 

 

      
 
REQUESTED BY: Robin Gazaway, Finance Director/Jacob Barr, Utilities Director______________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    16   
 

 

 



 

 

 
Red Oak Sanitation 
4405 Canton Hwy Ste. 100 
Cumming, GA 30040-4342 

RE: Solid Waste Collection Service 

July 2, 2025 
 
 

 
This is to serve as Red Oak Sanitation's response to the request for a proposal for the 
2026 rate of compensation for the City of Dawsonville. There will be no rate increase. 
The rate of $15.90 per home/per month for curbside service and $10.00 per home for 
additional cart will remain in effect through 2026. 

There are no notable changes to the current service, routes, or hours of collection as 
listed in the 2025 contract for Solid Waste Collection Service. 

 
Please do not hesitate to contact me at john@redoaksanitation.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

John Spagnuolo 

Business Development 

Sincerely, 

 
 

mailto:john@redoaksanitation.com


                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:    NATIONAL OPIOID SETTLEMENT WITH PURDUE PHARMA 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  07/21/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

   TO REQUEST APPROVAL FOR OPIOID SETTLEMENT WITH PURDUE PHARMA 
 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 
 

   
    

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 
    RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY: Kevin Tallant, City Attorney 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   17     
 

 

 



Settlement Document 
Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

1 

 State of Georgia and Local Governments: Memorandum of Understanding 
Concerning National Settlement with Purdue 

Foreword 

This Memorandum of Understanding between the State of Georgia ex rel. 
Chris Carr, Attorney General (the “State”), and certain Georgia Local Government 
entities (“LGs”) concerns the harms visited upon Georgia’s citizens and the State 
itself by certain manufacturers, distributors, and pharmacies (“Opioid Defendants”) 
of prescription opioids. 

To address these harms, the State and certain LGs separately initiated 
litigation meant to hold Opioid Defendants accountable. 

On December 31, 2021, the State entered into settlements with Opioid 
Defendants McKesson Corporation, AmerisourceBergen Corporation, Cardinal 
Health, Inc., Johnson & Johnson, Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Ortho-McNeil-
Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Janssen Pharmaceutica, Inc. (together, the 
“National Distributor and J&J Settlements”). 

Thereafter, the State and participating LGs entered into a Memorandum of 
Understanding to memorialize an agreement that would enable them to maximize 
the monetary help received from the National Distributor and J&J Settlements to 
address harms visited upon Georgia’s citizens and the State itself in the opioid crisis 
(the “2022 MOU”). 

On June 17, 2025 the Governmental Entity Settlement Agreement was filed 
in In re: Purdue Pharma, L.P. et al., Case No. 19-23649-shl in the United States 
Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York, Doc. 7592,  (the “Purdue 
Opioid Settlement” or “Opioid Settlement”) that the State of Georgia and LGs are 
eligible to join.  

During May 2025, the State opted into the Opioid Settlement. The LGs have 
until September 30, 2025 to opt in to the Opioid Settlement. 

This Memorandum of Understanding (“Memorandum” or “2025 MOU”) aims 
to memorialize an agreement between the State and certain LGs that will enable 
them to maximize the monetary funds received from the Opioid Settlement to 
remediate the harms caused by the opioid crisis. The processes outlined in this 
Memorandum in large part replicate processes required under the 2022 MOU.  



Settlement Document 
Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

2 

Except where the terms are different, the processes used in administration of the 
2022 MOU shall be utilized for administration as required under this Memorandum. 

I. Definitions 
 
Capitalized terms shall have the same definitions as in the 2022 MOU with 
the exception of:  
 
a. “Legislative Bar” means O.C.G.A. § 10-13B-1 et seq. 

 
b. “Local Government Opioid Funds” means the funds allocated to local 

governments pursuant to Section II of this Memorandum. 
 

c. “Opioid Funds” means the total monetary amounts obtained through 
the Purdue Opioid Settlement as defined in this 2025 MOU which are 
allocated to Georgia and its Participating Local Governments under the 
Purdue Opioid Settlement.  
 

d. “Opioid Settlement” or “Purdue Opioid Settlement” means the 
Governmental Entity Settlement Agreement dated June 17, 2025 filed 
in In re: Purdue Pharma, L.P. et al., Case No. 19-23649-shl in the 
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York, 
Doc. 7592. 
 

e. “Parties” shall mean the State and the Participating Local Governments. 
 

f. “Participating Local Governments” shall mean:  
(i.) all litigating subdivisions listed on Exhibit “C” of 

the Opioid Settlement, and  
(ii.) nonlitigating subdivisions listed on Exhibit “G” of 

the Opioid Settlement 
that choose to sign on to the Opioid Settlement and this 
Memorandum.  
 

g. “Released Entities” means the entities defined as such in the Opioid 
Settlement.  
 



Settlement Document 
Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

3 

h. “State Opioid Funds” means the funds allocated to the State pursuant 
to Section II of this Memorandum. 
 

i. “Trust” means the Georgia Opioid Crisis Abatement Trust, approved 
by the Gwinnett County Superior Court on February 16, 2023. 

 
j. “Trustee” means the Trustee of the Georgia Opioid Crisis Abatement 

Trust.  

II. Allocation between State and Local Governments 

a. The Participating Local Governments shall collectively receive 25% of 
the Opioid Funds as their full allocation of Local Government Opioid 
Funds for all claims past and future of the Participating Local 
Governments.  Local Government Opioid Funds shall be paid to a 
Settlement Fund Administrator as defined in the Opioid Settlement and 
distributed pursuant to the Opioid Settlement, with the following 
additional conditions: 
 
(i) If a county which is a Participating Local Government under this 

Memorandum has a sheriff who is a Litigating Subdivision listed 
in the Opioid Settlement, at least 9.45% of the Opioid Funds paid 
to that county under the terms of the Opioid Settlement in which 
the sheriff agreed to participate shall be allocated to that county’s 
sheriff to be used for Approved Purposes;  
 

(ii.) If a county which is a Participating Local Government under this 
Memorandum has a hospital which is a Litigating Subdivision 
listed in the Opioid Settlement, at least 2% of the Opioid Funds 
paid to that county under the terms of the Opioid Settlement in 
which the hospital agreed to participate shall be allocated to the 
hospital to be used for Approved Purposes; and 
 

(iii.) If a county which is a Participating Local Government under this 
Memorandum has a school district which is a Litigating 
Subdivision listed in the Opioid Settlement, at least 1% of the 
Opioid Funds paid to that county under the terms of the Opioid 
Settlement in which the school district agreed to participate shall 



Settlement Document 
Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

4 

be allocated to the school district to be used for Approved 
Purposes. 
 

b. The State shall receive 75% of the Opioid Funds as its full allocation of 
State Opioid Funds.  
 

c. Of the State’s 75% share, after the payment of litigation fees and costs 
owed to the State’s outside counsel pursuant to the agreement entered 
into on September 10, 2018 or as may be amended, 60% of the 
remaining funds shall be transferred by the receiving state agency 
through the Office of Planning and Budget to the State Treasury and 
spent at the direction of the State Legislature for Approved Purposes by 
appropriation and in compliance with the terms of the Opioid 
Settlement and this Memorandum.  The remaining 40% after payment 
of fees and costs shall be transferred to the Trust by the receiving state 
agency and shall be expended by the Trustee on a regional basis 
(“Regional Distribution”) as set forth in the Declaration of Trust, the 
2022 MOU, and this 2025 MOU.  
 
(i.) For purposes of the Regional Distribution under the Opioid 

Settlements, the Regions shall be the same as established 
pursuant to the 2022 MOU, including Qualifying Block 
Grantees. 
 

(ii.) Each Qualifying Block Grantee shall receive its allocation of the 
Regional Distribution via a direct block grant so long as it 
certifies that it has sufficient infrastructure to provide opioid 
abatement services. 
 

(iii.) The Trustee shall use the same allocation model as used under 
the 2022 MOU for the Regional Distribution. 
 

(iv.) The Regional Advisory Councils established pursuant to the 
2022 MOU shall have the same duties and responsibilities in 
connection with the funds allocated to the Trust pursuant to this 
2025 MOU as under the 2022 MOU, including reporting 
requirements and making themselves available to consult with 
the Government Participation Mechanism and with Participating 



Settlement Document 
Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

5 

Local Governments to best determine how funds will be spent 
for opioid remediation within the established Regions.  In every 
instance the Trustee shall retain final authority over Regional 
Distributions. 

III. Funds to be used for Approved Purposes; Clawback and Recoupment 

a. With the exception of administrative expenses as allowed under the 
Opioid Settlement, funds set aside for attorneys’ fees and costs for State 
of Georgia outside counsel, and funds set aside for attorneys’ fees for 
Local Government outside counsel pursuant to Section VI of this 
Memorandum, State Opioid Funds and Local Government Opioid 
Funds shall be used for Approved Purposes. 
 

b. Funds are to primarily (no less than 70 percent) be used for future 
abatement purposes.  Funds used to reimburse the Parties for past 
abatement expenses may not be used to reimburse past Medicaid 
expenses or any other expense that would be subject to a federal 
clawback, recoupment, or similar mechanism. 
 

c. The State and Participating Local Governments shall work 
cooperatively to ensure the funds are spent within the spirit of this 
Memorandum and the Opioid Settlement, and shall further work 
cooperatively to actively defend the funds from federal clawback 
and/or recoupment, including, but not limited to, actively participating 
in any administrative procedure or other case or process related to 
defense of the funds from federal clawback and/or recoupment.  In the 
event the federal government initiates and successfully claws back any 
Opioid Funds related to the Settlement, such amounts shall first be 
deducted from the total disbursements to be made to both the State and 
Local Governments in the calendar year the clawback claim is 
successfully made and shall thereafter be deducted from the total 
disbursements to be made in any subsequent calendar year if necessary.  
After such deduction, the allocation between the State and Participating 
Local Governments described in Section II of this Memorandum shall 
be applied to the remaining funds for the current calendar year or any 
subsequent calendar year if applicable.  Deduction of amounts from the 
total disbursements shall include reimbursement of any amounts paid 



Settlement Document 
Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

6 

by the State or withheld from amounts due to the State as the result of 
a clawback and/or recoupment. 
 

IV. Compliance and Reporting 
 
a. The Trustee shall provide an up-to-date accounting of payments into or 

out of the Trust and/or its subaccounts upon written request of the State 
or a Participating Local Government.  The State, together with the 
Trustee, shall provide an annual report detailing: (1) the amounts 
received by the State and deposited into the State Treasury and the 
amounts remitted to the Trust; (2) the allocation of any awards 
approved, listing the recipient, amount awarded, programs funded, and 
disbursement terms; and (3) the amounts actually disbursed.  The State 
and Trustee shall also include an assessment of how well resources have 
been used by the State and the Participating Local Governments to 
abate opioid addiction, overdose deaths, and the other consequences of 
the opioid crisis.  The State shall publish its annual report and all 
Regional Advisory Council annual reports on its website. 
 

b. Expenses of the Trustee shall be deducted first from interest earned on 
funds held by the Georgia Opioid Crisis Abatement Trust, and then, if 
necessary, may be deducted from the corpus of Trust funds.  
Administrative expenses of the State shall be paid from or reimbursed 
out of State Opioid Funds as allowed under the terms of the Opioid 
Settlement. 
 

c. The Trustee and the State shall endeavor to keep such expenses 
reasonable in order to maximize the funding available for opioid 
abatement.  
 

d. Each Regional Advisory Council shall provide a report annually to the 
Trustee and Government Participation Mechanism detailing: (1) the 
amount received by each local government within the Region; (2) the 
allocation of any awards approved, listing the recipient, amount 
awarded, programs funded, and disbursement terms; and (3) the 
amounts actually disbursed and approved allocations.  Each 
Participating Local Government within each Region shall provide any 



Settlement Document 
Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

7 

information necessary to facilitate such reporting to a single regional 
delegate selected by the Region to provide its annual report.  
 

e. If the State believes that any Participating Local Government has used 
funds for a non-approved purpose, it may request in writing the 
documentation underlying such alleged improper use of funds.  If any 
ten (10) Participating Local Governments believe the State has used 
funds for a non-approved purpose, they may request jointly in writing 
the documentation underlying such alleged improper use of funds. 
 

f. The State and Participating Local Governments may object in writing 
to the Trustee to an allocation or expenditure on the basis that the 
allocation or Trust expenditure is inconsistent with Section III of this 
Memorandum or violates Section IV.c of this Memorandum regarding 
reasonable expenses of the Trustee. 
 

g. Any party to this Memorandum who receives a written request sent 
pursuant to IV.f or IV.e shall have 21 days to respond to such request, 
which may be extended by mutual consent. 
 

h. A party who makes a written request pursuant to IV.f may file an action 
in the Superior Court of Gwinnett County within one year of its 
objection seeking a determination as to the validity of the objection. 
 

i. If, after a written objection made pursuant to IV.e, it appears to the State 
that a Participating Local Government has spent funds on non-approved 
purposes, the State may seek and obtain an injunction in the Superior 
Court of Gwinnett County prohibiting the Participating Local 
Government from spending further funds on non-approved purposes, 
and ordering the return of monies spent on non-approved purposes.  So 
long as any such action is pending, distribution of any funds to the 
relevant Participating Local Government shall be suspended and held 
in trust by the Trustee or national Settlement Fund Administrator and 
shall only resume after the action is resolved.  Once the action is 
resolved, suspended payments to the Participating Local Government 
shall resume, less any amounts ordered returned that have not yet been 
returned as of the date of the resumption of suspended payments.  
 



Settlement Document 
Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

8 

j. Attorney’s fees and costs are not recoverable in actions brought under 
this Section. 
 

V. Litigation Bar 
 
a. All Parties expressly acknowledge that this 2025 MOU qualifies under 

O.C.G.A. § 10-13B-2(a)(4)(E) and that the Opioid Settlement is a state-
wide opioid settlement as that term is defined in O.C.G.A.  
§ 10-13B-2(4). 
 

VI. Attorney’s Fees; Costs and Expenses 
 
a. Section VII of the 2022 MOU is incorporated by reference as though 

fully set forth herein. 
 

VII. Future Agreements and Negotiations 
 
a. Nothing in this Memorandum shall bind the Parties concerning any 

future opioid settlements other than the ones expressly contemplated in 
(1) this Memorandum or (2) any amendments to this Memorandum 
made pursuant to Section VIII.b.  Other than those Released Entities 
who are parties to the Opioid Settlement, the Parties are free to engage 
in settlement negotiations with any Opioid Defendants without prior 
consent or participation of any other party to this Memorandum.  
 

b. The Parties shall endeavor, insofar as is reasonably practicable, to keep 
each other apprised of future negotiations concerning future opioid 
settlements.  Nothing in this provision shall require the parties to violate 
any duty, obligation, or promise of confidentiality, non-disclosure 
agreement, common interest agreement, court order concerning non-
disclosure, or similar non-disclosure obligation concerning 
negotiations regarding future opioid settlements.  For the avoidance of 
doubt, LGs shall not be required to disclose, among other things, any 
information relating to negotiations between groups of local 
governments and Opioid Defendants, and the State shall not be required 
to disclose, among other things, any information relating to 
negotiations between states or groups of states and Opioid Defendants. 
 



Settlement Document 
Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

9 

VIII. Miscellaneous  
 
a. This Memorandum shall be governed by Georgia law. 

 
b. The Parties may make amendments to this Memorandum as necessary.  

Amendments shall be in writing and shall require the consent of all 
Parties to this Memorandum.  Proposed amendments shall be circulated 
to all Parties through designated contacts provided in their 
Acknowledgement, after which Parties shall have 30 days to agree or 
object to the proposed amendment.  Parties who do not respond shall 
be deemed to have consented to the amendment for purposes of this 
Section VIII.b.   
 

c. Jurisdiction and venue regarding any disputes between or among the 
Parties concerning this Memorandum or the interpretation thereof shall 
lie in the Superior Court of Gwinnett County, Georgia.  
 

d. This Memorandum terminates automatically with respect to the Opioid 
Settlement in the event the Opioid Settlement is terminated by the 
parties to it. 
 

e. By entering into this Memorandum, a local government agrees to 
participate in the Opioid Settlement.   
 

f. If less than 65% of the litigating LGs participate in the Opioid 
Settlement, this Memorandum is voidable by the State.  

 

*  *  *  *  * 

  



Settlement Document 
Binding on State of Georgia When Executed by Georgia AG / Governor  
 
 

10 

ATTACHED EXHIBITS: 

EXHIBIT 1:   ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AGREEMENT TO BE 
BOUND TO MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING



Exhibit 1 
 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AGREEMENT  
TO BE BOUND BY MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

 
WHEREFORE, the undersigned, as a duly-appointed representative of the 

below-referenced entity, acknowledges the following:  
• The City of Dawsonville, Georgia has received the State of Georgia and 

Local Governments: Memorandum of Understanding Concerning 
National Settlement with Purdue Pharma, L.P. and other related entities 
as defined in the Purdue Opioid Settlement. 

• The undersigned is a duly-appointed representative of  The City of 
Dawsonville, Georgia, and has the authority to execute this document and 
bind The City of Dawsonville, Georgia to the Memorandum.  

• The City of Dawsonville, Georgia is either represented by legal counsel, or 
has the ability to obtain advice from legal counsel, concerning the contents 
and implication of the Memorandum.  

• The undersigned, on behalf of The City of Dawsonville, Georgia, understands 
and acknowledges the terms of the Memorandum, and The City of 
Dawsonville, Georgia agrees to be bound by its terms.  

• No party is under duress or undue influence. 

/s/____________________________ 

Name: John Walden    

Title: Mayor      

Date: July 21, 2025    

Entity: The City of Dawsonville, GA  

 

Designated Contact for Purposes of Section VIII.b: 

Name: Jacob Evans  

Title: City Manager  

Address: 415 Hwy. 53East  

Dawsonville, Georgia 30534  

Email: citymanager@dawsonville-ga.gov 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:    DISCUSS GOLD CREEK DRIVE 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  07/21/2025 
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:   TABLED FROM THE 06/16/2025 MEETING 
 

    
TO DISCUSS GOLD CREEK DRIVE  
 
 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
    

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY: John Walden, Mayor 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   18     
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       STAFF REPORT: CITY MANAGER    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  07/21/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO PROVIDE CITY UPDATES  

 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES:   
 

 
    SEE ATTACHED OUTLINE  
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
      
      
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY:  Jacob Evans, City Manager    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    19      
 

 

 



Concerts at Mainstreet Park: Dates are scheduled, and the main bands have signed (opening acts are still in the works). August 23rd 
will be our first concert. That concert will feature a Bob Seager Tribute Band. September 27th will be our second concert and will feature 
Alex Young and Friends. This concert will be Christian themed, partnering off the success of our “Gospel in the Park Concert” last year.  
 
RFP for Information Technology Services: We have narrowed the search to a handful of companies and are reaching out for 
references at this point. Thanks to Bev, Stacy, and Robin for helping throughout this process.  
 
GRHOF: HVAC problems occurred that require overwatch by Public Works staff.  
 
Maple Street, Richmond Drive & Pearl Chambers Bid Opening: Allied Paving was awarded big. We are still working with the 
engineer and contractor to determine the start date for this project. 
 
Wastewater Treatment Plant: We are currently preparing the huge GEFA checklist. The loan agreement is with our attorney for his 
review, and we will also need an opinion from him. The Project Performance Worksheet is being prepared by GBT, and our auditor is 
preparing a letter as well. Once we get those, we can complete the agreement for review by the City Council along with a resolution. 
 
Special Events, 2025 Food Truck Night & Christmas Event Dates: Our next Friday Food Truck Night is today, July 11th. Future 
dates for the remainder of food truck nights in 2025 are: August 1st, September 12th, and October 10th.  Our Christmas Tree Lighting, 
Parade, Jingle Market, Santa, entertainment, and food trucks will be on November 22nd. Lastly our Amicalola Regional Farmer’s Market 
is continuing each Saturday.  
 
Patio Project: Phase I is complete except for planter boxes. We have finalized plans for Phase II, extending the patio/sidewalk to Main 
Street Park and work to start soon. Patio furniture is being delivered and assembled as we continue to finish Phase 1. 
 
New Shelter & Restroom: The new shelter is complete. Framing is complete. Rock has been installed on the lower half of the building. 
The electrician is working, and taps were made for connection of the facility to both the water and sewer lines 
 
Ordinance Review: We have three options: CPL has given us two quotes. 1) The first would be for $33,000 to identify contradictions, 
irregularities, or things that could be simplified in our ordinances. The expected timeline is 4-6 months for this option. Please note that it 
is only for the identification of those things, not rewriting new ordinances from that information. 2) Their quote to identify AND rewrite 
was $93,000. The expected timeline for this option was 10-12 months. 3) Kevin, our attorney, has given us an option that would most 
likely be less expensive, but would be much longer than 4-6 months.  

Water System Capacity Increase: We are working with our attorney to purchase the 5.98 (+/-) acres discussed at the last CC Meeting 
 
SPLOST VIII: Staff are developing project lists and cost estimates. 
 
 
EWSA Service Delivery Agreement: As we review the agreement that has been in place for about a year, we have identified three 
concerns moving forward that we are discussing with the City Attorney for appropriate action. 
 
Shoal Creek Bridge Construction & Paving Project: This project is underway including road upgrades and a roundabout at Hwy 136 
and Shoal Creek Road with paving underway. 

Gold Creek Foods Mediation: Mediation efforts continue.  
 
Generator Grants – GEMA: Staff have worked hard to prepare grant request packages that have been submitted to GEMA for several 
generators that would be permanently installed at several of our water wells, and the sewage lift stations. We are still being considered 
as GEMA asked for some additional information this week. 



Trail from Dog Park to Stonewall Subdivision: The survey is complete, and we have found out one manhole will need to be lowered 
and one raised. This will impact on the cost. We are awaiting the estimates for that work.  
 
Personnel: 

• Downtown Director Amanda Edmondson has returned to work as of Wednesday, July 16th. We are glad to have her back.   
• Please keep John Tatum, his wife Skyler, and their newborn, Holton Luke up in prayer as the doctor’s try to determine what is 

causing some breathing problems. Your prayers are coveted and appreciated. He remains in the hospital at Children’s Health 
Care of Atlanta. 

• Please keep Annette Watson in your prayers. She was admitted to the hospital for issues with intestines/stomach.  
 
Leak Adjustments 

• Total adjustments for 3 (three) accounts were $153.76 
• Water: $75.88 
• Sewer: $77.88 

 
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       STAFF REPORT: FINANCE DIRECTOR    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  07/21/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
FINANCIAL REPORTS REFLECTING FUND BALANCES AND ACTIVITY THROUGH JUNE 30, 
2025 ARE ATTACHED 

 
 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
     
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
      
      
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY:  Robin Gazaway, Finance Director   

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #  20   
 

 

 



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
GENERAL FUND

July 1, 2024 -June 30, 2025

100%
Except Accts Pay

Budget Actual Percentage
REVENUES
      Taxes 2,546,100$       2,665,901$       104.71%
      Licenses and permits 93,100              106,593            114.49%
      Intergovernmental revenues 56,000              143,135            255.60%
      Fees 331,700            433,161            130.59%
      Other 185,400            330,916            178.49%

 
               Total revenues 3,212,300         3,679,706         114.55%

EXPENDITURES
   Department:
      Council 166,200            155,064            93.30%
      Mayor 65,700              57,183              87.04%
      Elections 20,000              -                   0.00%
      Administration 1,170,762         992,328            84.76%
      City Hall building 189,500            189,925            100.22%
      Animal control 2,040                492                   24.12%
      Roads 725,800            780,562            107.55%
      Parks 114,200            141,794            124.16%
      Planning and zoning 569,000            562,720            98.90%
      Economic development 189,098            241,421            127.67%

 
               Total expenditures 3,212,300         3,121,489         97.17%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 558,217            

      Transfer in From Reserves (558,217)          

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
WATER, SEWER, AND GARBAGE FUND

July 1, 2024 - June 30, 2025

Budget Actual Percentage
REVENUES
       Water fees 950,000$        1,045,353$     110.04%
       Sewer fees 1,050,000       1,458,130       138.87%
       Garbage fees 301,200          363,379          120.64%
       Miscellaneous 269,600          238,016          88.28%

               Total revenues 2,570,800       3,104,878       120.77%

EXPENDITURES
        Depreciation 633,000          667,523          105.45%
        Garbage service 301,200          281,424          93.43%
        Group insurance 200,600          160,937          80.23%
        Insurance 600                 45,428            7571.33%
        Interest 77,000            53,225            69.12%
        Payroll taxes 28,000            34,031            121.54%
        Professional 203,000          135,504          66.75%
        Miscellaneous 163,200          167,840          102.84%
        Repairs/supplies 286,000          283,014          98.96%
        Retirement 30,000            30,932            103.11%
        Salaries 332,000          453,226          136.51%
        Technical services 104,000          142,027          136.56%
        Utilities 212,200          200,216          94.35%

               Total expenditures 2,570,800       2,655,327       103.29%

INCOME (LOSS) 449,551          



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
SPLOST VI

July 1, 2024 - June 30, 2025

SPLOST VI
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Taxes -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Interest 1,400                893                   63.79%
       Other 7,600                -                   0.00%

               Total revenues 9,000                893                   9.92%

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
       City hall acquisition -                   25                     #DIV/0!
       Roads and sidewalks -                   #DIV/0!
       Public works equipment - roads -                   -                   0.00%
       Sewer projects -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - sewer -                   -                   0.00%
       Water projects -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - water -                   -                   0.00%
       Farmers market 9,000                9,000                100.00%
       Parks and recreation -                   -                   0.00%

               Total expenditures 9,000                9,025                100.28%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (8,132)              

      Transfer in From Reserves 8,132                
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
SPLOST VII

July 1, 2024 - June 30, 2025

SPLOST VII
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Taxes 1,300,000         1,286,951         99.00%
       Interest 70,000              87,227              124.61%
       Other 1,535,000         -                   0.00%

               Total revenues 2,905,000         1,374,178         47.30%

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
       City hall acquisition 1,000,000         120,485            12.05%
       Roads and sidewalks 1,000,000         80,241              8.02%
       Public works equipment - roads 25,000              -                   0.00%
       Land Acq. / Downtown -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - sewer -                   -                   0.00%
       Water projects/Sewer Projects 780,000            7,925                0.00%
       Public works equipment - water -                   -                   0.00%
       Farmers market -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Parks and recreation 100,000            39,048              0.00%

               Total expenditures 2,905,000         247,699            8.53%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 1,126,479         

      Transfer in From Reserves (1,126,479)       
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
TSPLOST 

July 1, 2024 - June 30, 2025

TSPLOST 
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Taxes -                   392,117            #DIV/0!
       Interest -                   3,849                #DIV/0!
       Other -                   -                   0.00%

               Total revenues -                       395,966            #DIV/0!

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
-                   -                   #DIV/0!

       Roads -                   -                   #DIV/0!
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   #DIV/0!
-                   -                   0.00%

               Total expenditures -                   -                   #DIV/0!

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 395,966            

      Transfer in From Reserves (395,966)          
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   


	1. 07.21.2025 AGENDA City Council Regular Meeting and Work Session
	7. Executive Summary For Agenda Items CONSENT AGENDA
	7a. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items MINUTES
	7a. 2. 06.16.2025 MINUTES City Coucil Regular Meeting and Work Session.DRAFT
	7a. 3. 06.25.2025 MINUTES City Council Special Called Meeting.DRAFT
	7a. 4. 07.09.2025 MINUTES City Council Special Called Meeting.DRAFT
	7a. 5. 07.14.2025 MINUTES City Council Special Called Meeting.DRAFT
	8. 1  Executive Summary For Agenda Items EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION
	9. 1.  Executive Summary For Agenda Items HOF INDUCTEES
	9. 2. Proclamation - HOF Inductees 2025 8.5x11
	10. 1. 07.21.2025 ES AGENDA _VAR-C2500168_INTEGRITY ENGINEERING  DEVELOPMENT SERVICES_
	10. 2. VAR-C25020168 _ INTEGRITY ENGINEERING_Redacted
	11. 1. 06.16.2025 ES AGENDA _VAR-C2500108_224 TIMBER RIDGE
	11. 2. 06.16.2025_VAR-C2500108_224 TIMBER RIDGE_Redacted
	12. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items GOOD SHEPHERD FEE WAIVER
	13. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items A FAMILY FAIR
	13. 2. A Family Fair_Supporting documents
	14. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items GSP DONATION
	14. 2. Resolution R2025-05_GSP Post 37 Donation
	15. 1. 07.21.2025 ES AGENDA _FINAL PLAT_VILLAS AT DAWSONVILLE
	15. 3. ZA-C2300046 Stipulations_Exhibit A
	16. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items GARBAGE 2026
	16. 2. Red Oak Formal Letter Dawsonville 2025 26
	17. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items OPIOID SETTLEMENT
	17. 2. 2025.07.8 Purdue MOU (1)
	18. 1. Executive Summarry For GOLD CREEK DRIVE
	19. 1.  Executive Summary For Agenda Items CITY MANAGER
	19. 2. 25.07-21 CM Update and Leak Adjustments
	20. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items FINANCE DIRECTOR
	20. 2. Financial Statements-JUNE25
	GF Budget
	WS vs Budget
	SPLOST
	SPLOST VII
	TSPLOST

	VAR-C2500187 STAFF REPORT 07.21.pdf
	Existing Land Use
	Existing Zoning
	Direction from the Site
	COMPREHENSIVE PLAN




